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WARNER BROS. RECORDS INC., CASE NO.
ATLANTIC RECORDING
CORPORATION, ELEKTRA COMPLAINT FOR DIRECT,
ENTERTAINMENT GROUP INC,, CONTRIBUTORY, AND
and RHINO ENTERTAINMENT VICARIOUS COPYRIGHT
COMPANY, INFRINGEMENT, INDUCEMENT
OF COPYRIGHT INFRINGEMENT,
Plaintiffs, MISAPPROPRIATION AND
UNFAIR COMPETITION
VS.
DEMAND FOR JURY TRIAL
IMEEM, INC.,
Defendant.

This Court has original subject matter jurisdiction over all claims

pursuant to 28 U.S.C. §§ 1331 and 1338(a), and supplemental jurisdiction over

Plaintiffs’ claims arising under state law under 28 U.S.C. § 1367. Plaintiffs Warner

Bros. Records Inc., Atlantic Recording Corporation, Elektra Entertainment Group

Inc., and Rhino Entertainment Company (‘“Plaintiffs”) allege, on information and

belief, as follows:
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NATURE OF ACTION

1. Defendant imeem, Inc. (“imeem”) publicizes itself as “an innovative
media-centric social network.” In reality, imeem’s “innovation” is that it has found
a way to make it quicker and easier for millions of Internet users to steal
copyrighted content from Plaintiffs and other intellectual property owners. imeem
has consciously designed its website to make it easy for users to locate and share
infringing content, and it has deliberately refrained from implementing available
copyright protection measures that would prevent users from sharing copyrighted
material. imeem operates its business this way for a simple reason: imeem believes
that it — and its investors (including venture capital firms Sequoia Capital and
Morgenthaler Ventures) — will be able to capitalize on the illegal use of “free
music” to rapidly grow the imeem user base. A mushrooming user base translates
into increased dollars in advertising revenue and an increasing corporate valuation
when imeem and its investors decide to flip their equity to prospective purchasers
who covet a large user base. imeem has decided that the fastest — and cheapest —
way to grow that user base is with a practically unlimited catalogue of unlicensed
sound recordings and music videos, including numerous unauthorized copies of
Plaintiffs’ copyrighted works.

2. imeem is no innocent infringer. It invites imeem’s millions of users to
flock to its website to copy, adapt, distribute and perform unlicensed sound
recordings and music videos. imeem lures these users to its website by offering
them the opportunity to share popular music and music videos for free. With the
click of a mouse, imeem’s users are able to upload sound recordings and audio-
visual content to the website or to their computer hard-drive. Other members of
imeem’s user base can listen to or watch these works without charge; they can
collect and store them in “playlists”; and they can link content to personal blogs or
other “social networking” Internet sites, all the while keeping the content
“embedded” through a link to imeem and thereby capturing still more “eyeballs”
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which generates advertising revenue and increase the company’s valuation. The
“top ranked” and “most favorite” songs on imeem’s “playlists” are comprised of
copyrighted content owned by Plaintiffs and other copyright holders who have not
authorized the use of their works on imeem.

3. imeem, of course, knows exactly what is happening on its website.
Indeed, imeem itself directly engages in much of the infringing conduct by
duplicating, adapting, distributing and performing Plaintiffs’ works through
imeem’s own servers. imeem also intentionally facilitates and supports its users’
infringement of Plaintiffs” works, going so far as to invite its users to let imeem
itself “do the dirty work™ of searching “playlists” on the site for desired content.
And imeem does all of these intentional and deliberate infringing acts for its direct
financial benefit.

4. imeem’s scheme of using infringing content to lure more and more
users has been immensely successful. Since imeem launched its web-based service
just over a year ago, the size of its user base has skyrocketed to over 16 million
unique users per month, making it one of the fastest growing sites on the Internet.
These users are playing certain sound recordings of Plaintiffs and others tens of
thousands of times, with the most popular recordings being played over a million
times by imeem users. The constantly expanding user base translates into increased
advertising dollars for imeem and increased value for imeem’s investors. Plaintiffs
bring this lawsuit to stop imeem and its investors from using Plaintiffs’ and their
artists’ music as involuntary seed financing for imeem’s unlawful business activity.

JURISDICTION AND VENUE

5. This is a civil action seeking damages and injunctive relief for
copyright infringement under the Copyright Act, 17 U.S.C. § 101 et seq.

6. The Court has original subject matter jurisdiction over all claims
pursuant to 28 U.S.C. §§ 1331 and 1338(a). This Court also has supplemental
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jurisdiction over Plaintiffs’ claims arising under state law under 28 U.S.C. § 1367,
as those claims form part of the same case or controversy.

7. This Court has personal jurisdiction over imeem in that, among other
things, imeem does business in this District, and Plaintiffs do business in and are
suffering harm in this judicial District.

8. Venue is proper in this District pursuant to 28 U.S.C. § 1391(b) and
().

THE PARTIES

9. Plaintiff Warner Bros. Records Inc. (“WBR”) is a Delaware
corporation with its principal place of business in Burbank, California. WBR is in
the business of, among other things, the distribution and sale of recorded music in
the form of compact discs, DVDs, digital downloads and other audio and audio-
visual works. WBR has released albums from such prominent recording artists as
Madonna, Linkin Park, Eric Clapton, Cher, Red Hot Chili Peppers, Fleetwood Mac,
Tom Petty, Neil Young and Green Day. WBR is the owner of exclusive rights
under copyright for numerous sound recordings and audio-visual works.

10. Plaintiff Atlantic Recording Corporation (“Atlantic”) is a Delaware
corporation with its principal place of business in New York City, New York.
Atlantic is in the business of, among other things, the distribution and sale of
recorded music in the form of compact discs, DVDs, digital downloads and other
audio and audio-visual works. Atlantic has released albums from such prominent
recording artists as Jewel, Genesis and Led Zeppelin. Atlantic is the copyright
owner of exclusive rights under copyright for numerous sound recordings and
audio-visual works.

11.  Plaintiff Elektra Entertainment Group Inc. (“Elektra”) is a Delaware
corporation with its principal place of business in New York City, New York.
Elektra is in the business of, among other things, the distribution and sale of

recorded music in the form of compact discs, DVDs, digital downloads and other
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audio and audio-visual works. Elektra has released albums from such prominent
recording artists as Missy Elliot, Emmylou Harris and The Cure. Elektra is the
copyright owner of exclusive rights under copyright for numerous sound recordings
and audio-visual works.

12.  Plaintiff Rhino Entertainment Company (“Rhino”) is a Delaware
corporation with its principal place of business in Burbank, California. Rhino is in
the business of, among other things, the distribution and sale of recorded music in
the form of compact discs, DVDs, digital downloads and other audio and audio-
visual works. Rhino is the copyright owner of exclusive rights under copyright for
numerous sound recordings and audio-visual works, including works from such
prominent recording artists as Chicago and Curtis Mayfield.

13.  Plaintiffs have obtained Certificates of Copyright Registration from
the Register of Copyrights for their works. Attached hereto as Exhibit A is a non-
exhaustive, exemplary list of Plaintiffs’ federally copyrighted works that imeem has
infringed by the acts complained of herein, identifying the Certificates of Copyright
Registration from the Register of Copyrights for works protected by federal
copyright.

14.  Plaintiffs have also entered into various agreements by which they
obtained the common-law copyright rights in sound recordings embodying certain
musical works that were initially “fixed” prior to February 15, 1972 and for which
Plaintiffs possesses exclusive exploitation rights under state common law (“Pre-
1972 Recordings™). Attached hereto as Exhibit B is a non-exhaustive, exemplary
list of Plaintiffs’ Pre-1972 Recordings that are the subject of Plaintiffs’ state law
claims against imeem.

15. Attached hereto as Exhibit C is a collection of non-exhaustive,
exemplary screenshots of the first page of search results on imeem, reflecting
multiple infringements through imeem of just some of the works that are the subject
of this action.
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16.  Defendant imeem, Inc. is a Delaware corporation with its principal
place of business in San Francisco, California. imeem describes itself as “one of
the fastest growing media-centric social networks.”

17. A business such as imeem depends on seed financing and other critical
support from investors who are willing and able to subsidize infringing activity in
the short run in order to maximize their return when they cash out of their
investment. Sequoia Capital and Morgenthaler Ventures are venture capital firms
that have invested in and/or acquired an interest in imeem.

COMMON ALLEGATIONS
Plaintiffs’ Business

18.  Plaintiffs produce, distribute, sell and license the distribution and sale
of sound recording in phonorecords (as defined in 17 U.S.C. § 101) and audio-
visual works. Plaintiffs are among the leading producers of such works in the
United States, and their names and reputations for distributing works of high artistic
and technical quality are known favorably and widely throughout the United States
and the world.

19. Plaintiffs have invested and continue to invest substantial sums of
money, as well as time, effort, and creative talent, to discover and develop
recording artists, and to create, produce, advertise, promote, sell, and license works
embodying the performances of recording artists in whose works Plaintiffs have
exclusive rights. In order to create and sell such works, Plaintiffs make payments
to these recording artists, other musicians, songwriters, music publishers, various
trust funds established for such musicians’ benefit, producers, technicians, and
other staff personnel, as well as various other payments. Plaintiffs and their
recording artists are compensated for their monetary investments largely from the
sale and distribution of their works to the public and from license fees for the
reproduction, distribution, digital performance, or other exploitation of such works.

Absent such compensation, profits and motivation are siphoned away from artists
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and from Plaintiffs. The pool of resources available for finding and promoting new
artists shrinks. The ultimate result is that the public’s access to a continuing and
wide variety of high-quality musical recordings is sharply curtailed.

20.  Under Section 106 of the Copryight Act of 1976, 17 U.S.C. § 101 et
seq. (the “Copyright Act”), Plaintiffs have the distinct, severable, and exclusive
rights to, among other things, reproduce, distribute, publicly perform, display and
make derivative works from their copyrighted works. 17 U.S.C. §§ 106(1), (2), (3),
(4), (5) and (6). imeem and its users have not received any license, authorization,
permission or consent to use the copyrighted works at issue.

The imeem Service

21. imeem operates a web site located on the Internet at
http://www.imeem.com. The original version of imeem’s service was launched in
or around October of 2004. Initially, the website offered a software client that users
could download to establish a peer-to-peer social network. imeem’s original peer-
to-peer service was too cumbersome and failed to attract a substantial number of
users.

22. In March of 2006, imeem launched a new web-based service designed
to promote the viral growth of its user base by providing unlimited and free access
to content that imeem knew was copyrighted and unlicensed, including Plaintiffs’
works. The revamped imeem allows users to share content directly through
imeem’s website, without the need for peer-to-peer software, though imeem
continues to offer the latter service.

23. imeem’s current service allows anyone who claims to be at least 13
years of age to obtain membership upon request and without charge. Once the user
signs up, he or she can upload music, music videos, photos, or other content to
imeem at the click of a button. The user can make the uploaded content available to
everyone on the Internet, or can restrict access to the user’s “friends” if he or she
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alters the default settings that imeem has put in place. The user can also “tag” the
content with key words or add it to a “playlist” so that other users can find it easily.

24.  When a user uploads a file using peer-to-peer software downloaded
from imeem, the file is reproduced locally onto the user’s machine, where it can be
accessed by other users in the network. In contrast, when a user uploads a file
through imeem’s web-based service, the file is reproduced onto servers imeem
owns or controls, where it is stored and available for other imeem users to access
via the Internet. imeem users can select and listen to entire songs and music videos
uploaded to the imeem servers simply by clicking on the “play” button prominently
displayed on imeem’s website. When a user clicks the play button, imeem
performs the work by means of a digital transmission from its servers to the user’s
computer, where it can be heard by the user. During the entire user experience,
imeem displays its logo, user interface, and advertising to the user.

25.  Thus, the conduct by imeem that forms the basis for this lawsuit is not
simply providing storage space, conduits, or other facilities to users who create
their own websites with infringing materials. In addition to providing all of those
services (and thereby facilitating its users’ infringing duplication, public
performance, distribution and/or adaptation of Plaintiffs’ copyrighted works),
imeem itself commits infringing duplications, public performances, distributions
and/or adaptations of Plaintiffs’ copyrighted works. This infringement occurs on
imeem’s own website, through imeem’s own servers, which are owned, operated
and controlled by imeem, not its users.

26. imeem makes it easy for users to find, collect, and share copyrighted
songs and music videos. Users can search for content by key word, or by browsing
“featured” works, “top ranked” works, works that are “rising” or “falling” in
popularity, or works that are “most played,” “most discussed,” or “most playlisted.”
Users can also browse by genre within each category. On a regular basis, the “top

ranked,” “most played,” and “most playlisted” pop songs include numerous works
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owned by Plaintiffs and other content owners that were uploaded without a license.
By collecting into one easy-to-access place the most popular songs and music
videos on its website, which inevitably and foreseeably include Plaintiffs’ and
others’ unlicensed copyrighted works, imeem knowingly and intentionally directs
users to infringing content and encourages its further infringement.

27. imeem also allows its users to collect content they like onto
“playlists,” which they can share with others. A user can create a playlist from
music files residing on imeem’s servers (or, if they are using the peer-to-peer
software, from files residing on the machines of other users in the network), simply
by identifying the desired content using imeem’s search function, and then clicking
“add to a playlist.” According to imeem itself, people who are “[t]oo lazy to create
[their] own” can “let [imeem] do the dirty work” by doing a search for preexisting
playlists with content they like. The playlist feature allows users to amass vast
libraries of copyrighted works in their user accounts, which they can listen to at any
time, anywhere they have Internet access, for free. At the same time, the playlist is
available for streaming to everyone with access to the user’s profile. imeem has
promoted its playlist feature as “the new social mixtape,” encouraging users to,
“[wl]ith just a few clicks, create music, video, and photo playlists to show the world
what you’re about.”

28. imeem’s business model depends on the viral growth of its user base,
as shown by the fact that imeem has added a number of features to its service that
encourage existing users to bring other people onto imeem. imeem users can
“invite” their friends to join imeem, and they can “rate” content, mark it as a
“favorite,” and add their own editorial comments about it. imeem’s instant
messaging function allows users to combine their “buddy lists” from AIM, ICQ,
MSN, Yahoo and GoogleTalk so that they can quickly and easily refer their
“buddies” to content on imeem. Users can also direct friends to particular playlists,

sound recordings , or music videos by clicking on “share this music playlist,”
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“share this music,” or “share this video,” and entering their friend’s email address
when prompted. All the friend has to do upon receiving the email is click on the
play button, and he or she is directed to imeem’s website, where he or she can enjoy
the content for free.

29. imeem also allows users to create links to content on imeem from
other websites, such as a profile on popular social networking sites like MySpace or
Facebook. All the user has to do is navigate to the playlist/music/video he or she
wants to “embed” on the other site, go to the “Add to my” section, and click on the
icon corresponding to the networking site where he or she maintains a personal
profile. A user can embed content on blog posts just as easily, by going to the
“Blog this to” section and clicking on the icon corresponding to the site where the
user maintains his or her blog. When visitors to the other websites click on the
embedded content, they are directed back to imeem’s website where they can listen
to the content for free.

30. Thus, imeem is able to tap into the massive user bases accumulated by
other websites. A single Facebook user can bring his or her entire Facebook
network of friends onto imeem simply by embedding an imeem playlist into her
Facebook profile. Because the “embed” feature brings users to imeem’s website,
imeem actively encourages its users to embed content elsewhere. In the ,
“Community Rules” section of its website, for example, imeem tells users that “we
love to see imeem members ... [l]ink to imeem even when you post blogs or photos
elsewhere,” and reminds them that “imeem makes it possible to link to your imeem
page from your outside blog.” Similarly, in the “tour” of its website, imeem tells
users they can “[e]mbed your playlists on other sites and show the world what
you’re in to.”

imeem’s Intentional Facilitation of Infringing Activity for Financial Gain
31. imeem is well aware of the infringing conduct on its website. imeem

has the capability to monitor the infringing content on its website. Indeed, the
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nature and scope of that infringing activity is readily apparent from even a cursory
review of its website. imeem’s website is filled with “red flags” from which
infringing activity is apparent, such as description terms and search tags using
Plaintiffs’ well-known trademarks and other terms identifying their popular works.

32. imeem not only knows about the rampant infringement happening on
its website, it intends for and encourages it to happen because copyright
infringement is the cornerstone of its business. imeem has built an infringement-
driven business by exploiting the popularity of Plaintiffs’ copyrighted works (and
the works of other copyright owners) to draw millions of users to its website.
imeem earns revenue by displaying advertising next to the content available on its
website. The more “eyeballs” that view the largely pirated content on imeem’s site,
the more money imeem can make, and the more valuable its business becomes.
Through the “embed” and “share” functions, and in other ways, infringing content
draws users to imeem’s website, and imeem then derives additional advertising
revenue when users search for and access other content on its website. Thus,
imeem receives a direct and substantial financial benefit from the infringing activity
occurring on its website.

33. The draw of infringing content is also an essential component of the
value that imeem’s venture capital investors, including Sequoia and Morgenthaler,
derive from imeem. As Sequoia proclaims on its website, the firm “like[s] to
partner with companies that have ... LARGE MARKETS ... poised for rapid
growth or change.” See http://www.sequoiacap.com/ideas/; see also
http://www.sequoiacap.com/sequoia-capital/ (“High quality fast growing companies
form our beat”); http://www.morgenthaler.com/ventures/about.asp (describing
Morgenthaler Venture’s goal “to provide the active, value-added services required
to help our portfolio companies grow rapidly””). imeem has been able to attract
venture capital funding because the lure of massive amounts of unlicensed
copyrighted content has fueled the site’s “rapid growth” — i.e., its potential

COMPLAINT FOR DIRECT, CONTRIBUTORY, AND

-11- VICARIOUS COPYRIGHT INFRINGEMENT, ETC.;
DEMAND FOR JURY TRIAL




o B N T 7. T U US B N

\O

10
11
12
13
14
15
16
17
18
19
20
21
22
23
24
25
26
27
28

‘ l ‘ ‘ :

profitability once the venture investments are ready to be “flipped” to higher
bidders.

34. Because imeem relies on pirated content to draw users to its website, it
has made no effort to implement any copyright protection technologies to prevent
or limit the rampant infringement occurring on its website. imeem offers its users a
“friendly note” that “uploading media you do not own can be a violation of the
artist’s copyrights and against the law,” and places the burden on content owners to
notify it of infringements while reserving the right, “in its sole discretion, to
determine whether and what action to take in response to each such notification.”
At the same time, imeem interferes with copyright owners’ ability to find infringing
files after they have been uploaded. Users can opt to make infringing content
available for viewing only by their select groups of friends, preventing Plaintiffs
and other content owners from discovering and protecting themselves against the
infringing activity. Such content, while available to a broad network of the user’s
friends, is largely invisible to Plaintiffs.

35. imeem has the full right and ability to prevent or limit the
infringements occurring on its system. For example, as imeem makes clear in its
Terms of Use, it has the right and ability to cancel the accounts of users who violate
copyright laws. imeem also has the right and ability to monitor and control whether
infringing content is uploaded and shared illegally on its website. imeem expressly
reserves to itself the right to “reject, refuse to post, or otherwise monitor all content
displayed by users, and may remove or require users to remove all content that
imeem, in its sole discretion, deems to be (a) inconsistent with imeem’s strategic
mission and vision ... or (b) possibly in violation of applicable law.” imeem also
expressly states that it “has the right to remove any content if imeem has reason to
believe that displaying such content may infringe the rights of a third party or
subject imeem to expense or liability.”
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36. Although imeem has more than enough “reason to believe” that a
significant portion of the content on its website “infringe[s] the rights of a third
party,” it has done little to remove or otherwise limit access to that content, despite
the fact that it has the technology to do so. imeem recently announced that it has
obtained the ability to “automatically identify content uploaded by imeem users,
determine if the content is permitted for streaming by the content owner, and then
distribute a pro-rata share of the advertising revenue to the proper content owners.”
But instead of using this technology to prevent or limit the infringement of
Plaintiffs’ copyrighted works, imeem has made clear that it intends to withhold the
technology until it can coerce favorable licenses from Plaintiffs and others. imeem
has publicly stated that “the new service will provide content owners, such as music
labels and artists, direct control over their content — if they allow it to be streamed
over imeem, they will earn income through an advertising revenue share.”
(emphasis added).

CLAIMS FOR RELIEF
FIRST CLAIM
(Direct Copyright Infringement)

37. Plaintiffs incorporate herein by reference each and every averment
contained in paragraphs 1 through 36 inclusive.

38. Through its conduct averred herein, imeem has infringed Plaintiffs’
copyrights in their works, including by reproducing, distributing, adapting, and
publicly performing audio and/or audiovisual works embodying the copyrighted
material (including by means of digital audio transmissions) without authorization
in violation of Sections 106 et seq. and Section 501 of the Copyright Act. 17 U.S.C.
§8§ 106 et seq., and 501.

39. Each infringement by imeem of Plaintiffs’ copyrighted works
constitutes a separate and distinct act of infringement.
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40. imeem’s acts of infringement were wiliful, in disregard of and with
indifference to the rights of Plaintiffs.

41.  As adirect and proximate result of the infringements by imeem,
Plaintiffs are entitled to damages and imeem’s profits in amounts to be proven at
trial which are not currently ascertainable.

42.  Alternatively, Plaintiffs are entitled to the maximum statutory damages
in the amount of $150,000 with respect to each work infringed, or for such other
amounts as may be proper under 17 U.S.C. § 504.

43.  Plaintiffs further are entitled to recover their attorneys’ fees and full
costs pursuant to 17 U.S.C. § 505.

44.  As adirect and proximate result of the foregoing acts and conduct,
Plaintiffs have sustained and will continue to sustain substantial, immediate, and
irreparable injury, for which there is no adequate remedy at law. Unless enjoined
and restrained by this Court, imeem will continue to infringe Plaintiffs’ rights in
their copyrighted works. Plaintiffs are entitled to preliminary and permanent
injunctive relief.

SECOND CLAIM
(Contributory Copyright Infringement)

45.  Plaintiffs incorporate herein by reference each and every averment
contained in paragraphs 1 through 36, inclusive.

46. imeem knowingly and systematically has materially contributed to,
intentionally induced, and/or caused its users to infringe Plaintiffs’ copyrights in
their works, including by materially contributing to, intentionally inducing, and/or
causing unauthorized reproductions, distributions, adaptations, and public
performances of audio and/or audiovisual works embodying the copyrighted
material (including by means of digital audio transmissions) without authorization
in violation of Sections 106 et seq. and Section 501 of the Copyright Act. 17 U.S.C.
§§ 106 et seq., and 501.
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47.  Each infringement by imeem of Plaintiffs’ copyrighted works
constitutes a separate and distinct act of infringement.

48. imeem’s acts of infringement were willful, in disregard of and with
indifference to the rights of Plaintiffs.

49.  As a direct and proximate result of the infringements by imeem,
Plaintiffs are entitled to damages and imeem’s profits in amounts to be proven at
trial which are not currently ascertainable.

50. Alternatively, Plaintiffs are entitled to the maximum statutory damages
in the amount of $150,000 with respect to each work infringed, or for such other
amounts as may be proper under 17 U.S.C. § 504.

51. Plaintiffs further are entitled to recover their attorneys’ fees and full
costs pursuant to 17 U.S.C. § 505.

52. Asadirect and proximate result of the foregoing acts and conduct,
Plaintiffs have sustained and will continue to sustain substantial, immediate, and
irreparable injury, for which there is no adequate remedy at law. Unless enjoined
and restrained by this Court, imeem will continue to infringe Plaintiffs’ rights in
their copyrighted works. Plaintiffs are entitled to preliminary and permanent
injunctive relief.

THIRD CLAIM
(Vicarious Copyright Infringement)

53. Plaintiffs incorporate herein by reference each and every averment
contained in paragraphs 1 through 36, inclusive.

54. imeem has the right and ability to supervise and/or control the
infringing conduct of its users. imeem has refused to exercise such supervision and
control to the extent required by law. As a direct and proximate result of such
refusal, imeem’s users have infringed Plaintiffs’ copyrights, including by
reproducing, distributing,‘ adapting, and publicly performing audio and/or

audiovisual works embodying the copyrighted material (including by means of
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digital audio transmissions) without authorization in violation of Sections 106 et
seq. and Section 501 of the Copyright Act. 17 U.S.C. §§ 106 et seq., and 501.
imeem derives a direct financial benefit, including but not limited to from
advertising revenue from the increased traffic to its website, and from the increase
in the value of imeem, that flows directly from the draw of pirated music files
illegally copied, adapted, distributed and publicly performed using its service in
violation of Plaintiffs’ copyrights.

55.  Each infringement by imeem of Plaintiffs’ copyrighted works
constitutes a separate and distinct act of infringement.

56. imeem’s acts of infringement were willful, in disregard of and with
indifference to the rights of Plaintiffs.

57. As adirect and proximate result of the infringements by imeem,
Plaintiffs are entitled to damages and imeem’s profits in amounts to be proven at
trial which are not currently ascertainable.

58. Alternatively, Plaintiffs are entitled to the maximum statutory damages
in the amount of $150,000 with respect to each work infringed, or for such other
amounts as may be proper under 17 U.S.C. § 504.

59. Plaintiffs further are entitled to recover their attorneys’ fees and full
costs pursuant to 17 U.S.C. § 505.

60. As adirect and proximate result of the foregoing acts and conduct,
Plaintiffs have sustained and will continue to sustain substantial, immediate, and
irreparable injury, for which there is no adequate remedy at law. Unless enjoined
and restrained by this Court, imeem will continue to infringe Plaintiffs’ rights in
their copyrighted works. Plaintiffs are entitled to preliminary and permanent

injunctive relief.
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FOURTH CLAIM
(Inducing Copyright Infringement)

61.  Plaintiffs incorporate herein by reference each and every averment
contained in paragraphs 1 through 36, inclusive.

62. Through its conduct averred herein, imeem has infringed Plaintiffs’
copyrights by inducing imeem’s users to reproduce, adapt, distribute, and/or
publicly perform audio and/or audio visual works embodying the copyrighted
material (including by means of digital audio transmissions) without authorization
in violation of Sections 106 et seq. and Section 501 of the Copyright Act. 17 U.S.C.
§§ 106 et seq., and 501.

63. Each infringement by imeem of Plaintiffs’ copyrighted works
constitutes a separate and distinct act of infringement.

64. imeem’s acts of infringement were willful, in disregard of and with
indifference to the rights of Plaintiffs.

65. As adirect and proximate result of the infringements by imeem,
Plaintiffs are entitled to damages and imeem’s profits in amounts to be proven at
trial which are not currently ascertainable.

66. Alternatively, Plaintiffs are entitled to the maximum statutory damages
in the amount of $150,000 with respect to each work infringed, or for such other
amounts as may be proper under 17 U.S.C. § 504.

67. Plaintiffs further are entitled to recover their attorneys’ fees and full
costs pursuant to 17 U.S.C. § 505.

68. As a direct and proximate result of the foregoing acts and conduct,
Plaintiffs have sustained and will continue to sustain substantial, immediate, and
irreparable injury, for which there is no adequate remedy at law. Unless enjoined
and restrained by this Court, imeem will continue to infringe Plaintiffs’ rights in
their copyrighted works. Plaintiffs are entitled to preliminary and permanent
injunctive relief.
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FIFTH CLAIM
(Statutory and Common Law Misappropriation)

69. Plaintiffs incorporate herein by reference each and every averment
contained in paragraphs 1 through 36, inclusive.

70.  Plaintiffs possess exclusive ownership interests in and to the Pre-1972
Recordings under applicable statutory and common law.

71.  Through its conduct, imeem has violated Plaintiffs’ exclusive
ownership interest in and to the Pre-1972 Recordings.

72.  As adirect and proximate result of imeem’s conduct, Plaintiffs are
entitled to recover all proceeds and other compensation received or to be received
by imeem arising from the infringements of the Pre-1972 Recordings. Plaintiffs
request the Court to order imeem to render an accounting to ascertain the amount of
such profits and compensation.

73.  Asadirect and proximate result of imeem’s conduct in violation of
Plaintiffs’ exclusive ownership interests in and to the Pre-1972 Recordings, imeem
has been unjustly enriched and Plaintiffs have been damaged in an amount to be
proven at trial for which damages and/or restitution and disgorgement is
appropriate. Such damages and/or restitution and disgorgement should include a
declaration by this Court that imeem is a constructive trustee for the benefit of
Plaintiffs, and an order that imeem convey to Plaintiffs all the gross receipts
received or to be received that are attributable to infringement of the Pre-1972
Recordings.

74.  Through its conduct, imeem is guilty of oppression, fraud or malice;
Plaintiffs, in addition to their actual damages, are by reason thereof entitled to
recover exemplary and punitive damages against imeem.

75.  As adirect and proximate result of the foregoing acts and conduct,
Plaintiffs have sustained and will continue to sustain substantial, immediate, and

irreparable injury, for which there is no adequate remedy at law. Unless enjoined
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and restrained by this Court, imeem will continue to infringe Plaintiffs’ rights in
their Pre-1972 Recordings. Plaintiffs are entitled to preliminary and permanent
injunctive relief.
SIXTH CLAIM
(Statutory and Common Law Unfair Competition)

76. Plaintiffs incorporate herein by reference each and every averment
contained in paragraphs 1 through 36 and 69 through 75, inclusive.

77.  The acts and conduct of imeem constitute an appropriation and
invasion of the property rights of Plaintiffs in and to the Pre-1972 Recordings, and
constitute unfair competition under applicable statutory and common law.

78.  As adirect and proximate result of imeem’s conduct, Plaintiffs are
further entitled to recover all proceeds and other compensation received or to be
received by Defendants arising from the infringements of Pre-1972 Recordings.
Plaintiffs request the Court to order imeem to render an accounting to ascertain the
amount of such profits and compensation.

79.  As a direct and proximate result of imeem’s unfair competition,
Plaintiffs have been damaged, and imeem unjustly enriched, in an amount to be
proven at trial for which damages and/or restitution and disgorgement is
appropriate. Such damages and/or restitution and disgorgement should include a
declaration by this Court that imeem is a constructive trustee for the benefit of
Plaintiffs, and an order that imeem convey to Plaintiffs all the gross receipts
received or to be received that are attributable to infringement of Pre-1972
Recordings.

80. Through its conduct, imeem is guilty of oppression, fraud or malice.
Plaintiffs, in addition to their actual damages, are by reason thereof entitled to
recover exemplary and punitive damages against imeem.

81. As adirect and proximate result of the foregoing acts and conduct,

Plaintiffs have sustained and will continue to sustain substantial, immediate, and
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o ®
irreparable injury, for which there is no adequate remedy at law. Unless enjoined
and restrained by this Court, imeem will continue to infringe Plaintiffs’ rights in
their Pre-1972 Recordings. Plaintiffs are entitled to preliminary and permanent
injunctive relief.
PRAYER FOR RELIEF
WHEREFORE, Plaintiffs pray for judgment against imeem as follows:

1. For Plaintiffs’ damages and imeem’s profits in such amount as may be
found; alternatively, for maximum statutory damages in the amount of $150,000
with respect to each copyrighted work infringed either directly or indirectly, or for
such other amounts as may be proper pursuant to 17 U.S.C. § 504(c).

2. For apreliminary and permanent injunction enjoining imeem, and all
persons acting in concert or participation with imeem, from: (1) directly or
indirectly reproducing, adapting, distributing, publicly performing, or otherwise
infringing in any manner on Plaintiffs’ copyrighted works, whether now in
existence or hereinafter created, or on Plaintiffs’ Pre-1972 Recordings; (2) causing,
contributing to, inducing, enabling, facilitating, or participating in the infringement
of any of Plaintiffs’ copyrighted works or Pre-1972 Recordings; and (3) from
displaying their mark and or logo in connection with the display of unauthorized

copies of Plaintiffs’ copyrighted works or Pre-1972 Recordings.

3.  For restitution of imeem’s unlawful proceeds.
4. For an accounting and the imposition of a constructive trust.
5.  For punitive and exemplary damages, as authorized for Plaintiffs’ state

law claims, in such amount as may be awarded at trial.
6.  For prejudgment interest according to law.

7. For Plaintiffs’ attorneys’ fees and full costs incurred in this action.
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8. For such other and further relief as the Court may deem just and

proper.

DATED: May 15, 2007

MUNGER, TOLLES & OLSON LLP
GLENN D. POMERANTZ
KELLY M. KLAUS
BLANCA F. YOUNG

aeo )

~  GLENN D. BROMERANTZ

Attorneys for Plaintiffs

WARNER BROS. RECORDS INC,,
ATLANTIC REC ING
CORPORATION/ELEKTRA
ENTERTAINMENT GROUP INC., and
RHINO ENTERTAINMENT
COMPANY
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DEMAND FOR JURY TRIAL

Plaintiffs hereby request a trial by jury on all issues triable by jury.

DATED: May 15, 2007

MUNGER, TOLLES & OLSON LLP
GLENN D. POMERANTZ
KELLY M. KLAUS
BLANCA F. YOUNG

W/ASNES

GLENN D. POMERANTZ

Attorneys for Plaintiffs

WA R BROS. RECORDS INC,,
ATLANTIC RECORDING
CORPORATION, ELEKTRA
ENTERTAINMENT GROUP INC., and
RHINO ENTERTAINMENT
COMPANY
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EXHIBIT A
Plaintiff Sound Recording Recorded By Copyright
Registration Number
Warner Bros. Records Neil Young Greatest Neil Young SR 362-313
Inc. Hits B
Warner Bros. Records American Life Madonna SR 330-200
Inc.
Warner Bros. Records Evita Madonna et al. SR 229-813
Inc.
Warner Bros. Records Die Another Day Madonna et al. SR 323-350
Inc. Soundtrack
Warner Bros. Records Nimrod Green Day SR 390-775
L Inc.
Warner Bros. Records Hybrid Theory Linkin Park SR 288-402
Inc.
Warner Bros. Records Californication Red Hot Chili SR 174-922
Inc. Peppers L
Warner Bros. Records Stadium Arcadium Red Hot Chili —l SR 244-558
Inc. Peppers
| N
Warner Bros. Records Road to Ruin Ramones SR 4-335
Inc.
]
Warner Bros. Records | Hunting High and Low A-Ha SR 63-603
Inc.
Warner Bros. Records The Old Apartment / | Barenaked Ladies SR 234-360
Inc. Lovers in a Dangerous
Time
Atlantic Recording Yaga Yaga Terror Fabulous SR 190-383
Corporation
-
Atlantic Recording Adrenaline Rush Twista SR 238-303
Corporation
Atlantic Recording Yourself or someone Matchbox 20 SR 227-755

|

Corporation

Like You

2906846.2




Plaintiff Sound Recording Recorded By | Copyright
Registration Number

Elektra Entertainment Meet the Girl Next Lil’ Mo SR 353-787
Group Inc. Door

Elektra Entertainment More Street Dreams Fabolous SR 354-869
Group Inc.

Elektra Entertainment Make It Last Forever Keith Sweat SR 86-761
Group Inc.

Elektra Entertainment Supa Dupa Fly Missy SR 245-232
Group Inc. Misdemeanor

Elliot

Elektra Entertainment The Coming Busta Rymes SR 225-705

Group Inc. J

2906846.2







EXHIBIT B
Plaintiff Sound Recording Recorded By
Warner Bros. Records Inc. Masters of Reality Black Sabbath
Warner Bros. Records Inc. Paranoid Black Sabbath
Rhino Entertainment Company Chicago Transit Authority Chicago
Rhino Entertainment Company Superfly Curtis Mayfield
Atlantic Recording Lady Soul Aretha Franklin
Corporation
Atlantic Recording I Never Loved a Man the Way | Aretha Franklin
Corporation Love You
Atlantic Recording Save the Last Dance For Me Drifters
Corporation
Atlantic Recording Led Zeppelin 11 Led Zeppelin
Corporation
Atlantic Recording Led Zeppelin IV Led Zeppelin
Corporation
Elektra Entertainment Group Inc. L.A. Woman The Doors

2914175.1
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